#### SC22-458

# In the Supreme Court of Florida

STATE OF FLORIDA, *Petitioner*,

 $\nu$ .

ZACHARY JOSEPH PENNA, Respondent.

On Petition for Discretionary Review from the Fourth District Court of Appeal DCA No. 4D20-345

#### PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

Ashley Moody
Attorney General

Henry C. Whitaker (FBN1031175)
Solicitor General
Jeffrey Paul DeSousa (FBN110951)
Chief Deputy Solicitor General
Evan Ezray (FBN1008228)
Deputy Solicitor General
Office of the Attorney General
The Capitol, PL-01
Tallahassee, Florida 32399
(850) 414-3300
evan.ezray@myfloridalegal.com

Counsel for State of Florida

April 18, 2022

#

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The question presented, which was certified as a question of great public importance by the district court, is:

Whether a defendant's Fifth Amendment *Miranda* rights are automatically violated when an officer fails to re-read a *Miranda* warning following a defendant's voluntary re-initiation of contact.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. In *Miranda v. Arizona*, the U.S. Supreme Court held that if the police elicit a statement in an interrogation without warning the suspect of his rights, that statement may not be used in the prosecution's case-in-chief. 384 U.S. 436 (1966). The Court "also indicated the procedures to be followed subsequent to the warnings." *Edwards v. Arizona*, 451 U.S. 477, 482 (1981). "If the accused indicates that he wishes to remain silent, 'the interrogation must cease.' If he requests counsel, 'the interrogation must cease until an attorney is present." *Id.* (quoting *Miranda*, 384 U.S. at 474). The Court has, however, always been clear that an accused can waive his *Miranda* rights. *E.g.*, *North Carolina v. Butler*, 441 U.S. 369, 373 (1979).

The question soon arose: what happens when an accused invokes his *Miranda* rights but then changes his mind and wishes to resume an interrogation? In *Oregon v. Bradshaw*, the Court answered that question. 462 U.S. 1039 (1983). The plurality opinion explained that when the accused reinitiates an interrogation, "the next inquiry" is "whether a valid waiver . . . ha[s] occurred, that is, whether the purported waiver [i]s knowing and intelligent and found

to be so under the totality of the circumstances." *Id.* at 1046 (plurality op.) (quoting *Edwards*, 451 U.S. at 486 n.9). Justice Powell agreed that the question is always whether under the "totality of the circumstances" the waiver is knowing and voluntary. *Id.* at 1048 (Powell, J., concurring). Thus, the U.S. Supreme Court held that if an accused invokes *Miranda*, "courts may admit his responses to further questioning only on finding that he (a) initiated further discussions with the police, and (b) knowingly and intelligently waived the right he had invoked." *Smith v. Illinois*, 469 U.S. 91, 95 (1984).

In *Shelly v. State*, this Court added a requirement to the *Bradshaw* framework. 262 So. 3d 1, 11–14 (Fla. 2018). The Court explained that "if an accused invokes his or her *Miranda* rights but later reinitiates communication, an accused must be reminded of his or her *Miranda* rights." *Id.* at 13 (emphasis omitted). Justice Lawson, joined by Chief Justice Canady and Justice Polston, dissented. He argued that "the United States Supreme Court has never articulated or implied a third inquiry . . . requiring that police 'remind' the accused of his or her *Miranda* rights." *Id.* at 22 (Lawson, J., dissenting).

This case asks whether *Shelly*'s adoption of a third requirement was warranted.

2. Respondent stabbed two men to death, stole their SUV, stole the shirt off an elderly woman's back, abducted his co-worker at knifepoint, stabbed another man in an attempted robbery, and stabbed a police dog. App.6. For those crimes, he was convicted of two counts of first-degree murder, one count of robbery with a weapon, and one count of false imprisonment with a weapon. App.5. The Fourth District reversed, finding a *Miranda* violation. App.5.

This is not, however, a case where *Miranda* warnings were never read. App.5. Nor is it one where the police unilaterally rekindled an interrogation after a suspect invoked his rights. App.6–7. Rather, after receiving and invoking his *Miranda* rights, Respondent reinitiated conversation with a police deputy. App.7–11. More specifically, after committing his crimes, Respondent was brought to a hospital. App.6. He invoked his *Miranda* rights. App.6. About a month later, he began speaking to the deputy posted at his door. App.6, 7–11. Although the deputy reminded Respondent that he was "law enforcement" and would "write" down what Respondent said,

App.8, the deputy did not specifically give new *Miranda* warnings. App.8. In his conversations with the deputy, Respondent repeatedly confessed and undermined his insanity defense. App.7–11.

Nonetheless, the panel majority reversed because it considered itself bound by this Court's decision in *Shelly*, in which a 4-3 majority stated that anytime an interrogation is reinitiated, even at a defendant's prompting, new *Miranda* warnings must be "specifically given." App.21 (emphasis omitted) (quoting *Shelly*, 262 So. at 13). Because the officer in this case did not "specifically give" a new *Miranda* warning, the panel found error even though "a reasonable person in the defendant's position may have been able to remember," and thus knowingly and intelligently waive, "his *Miranda* rights." App.24–25.

Judge Artau dissented in part. App.30 (Artau, J., dissenting in part). As he explained, the U.S. Supreme Court has applied a "totality of the circumstances" test, rather than the test articulated in *Shelly*. App.30. And thus, he suggested that the court certify a question of great public importance on *Shelly*'s requirements. App.30–31.

The State moved for certification of a question of great public

importance. The court agreed and certified the following question of great public importance:

Whether a defendant's Fifth Amendment *Miranda* rights are automatically violated when an officer fails to re-read a *Miranda* warning following a defendant's voluntary reinitiation of contact.

App.33-34.

#### **ARGUMENT**

THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE CERTIFIED QUESTION OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE.

A. This Court has jurisdiction to review the certified question.

This Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review a district court decision, like the one here, that "passes upon a question certified by it to be of great public importance." Art. V, § 3(b)(4), Fla. Const.

In response to the State's motion to certify, Respondent did not assert that there were any jurisdictional defects with the State's request for certification. At that time, Respondent apparently agreed that the district court had passed upon the question presented. But, in response to the State's later-filed motion to stay the issuance of the mandate, Respondent argued that the district court "may not

have passed upon the question certified" because, on his view, the district court "did not hold that a defendant's Miranda rights are 'automatically' violated when an officer fails to re-Mirandize following the defendant's re-initiation of contact." See Opp'n to Mot. to Recall the Mandate at 1–2. That is, however, exactly what the district court held. It explained that Shelly included "a requirement that the accused be specifically given his or her Miranda rights after an alleged reinitiation." App.21 (emphasis omitted). That issue decided the case. The district court reasoned that "the deputy's prefatory comments to the defendant's lengthy confession" did not satisfy "Shelly's 'requirement that the accused be specifically given his or her Miranda rights after an alleged reinitiation." App.24 (emphasis omitted); see also App. 25 (finding another statement inadmissible because the deputy spoke "without having specifically given the defendant his Miranda rights again"); App.26 (same). And indeed, although the district court understood that "a reasonable person in the defendant's position may have been able to remember his Miranda rights without having a police officer specifically give the Miranda rights again," it nonetheless found a violation because Shelly demanded that new *Miranda* warnings be "specifically given" on reinitiation. App.24–25. That is more than what is needed to pass upon the question presented. *See Weiand v. State*, 732 So. 2d 1044, 1047 (Fla. 1999) (question was passed upon when the district court "necessarily ruled" on it, even though the district court had no "discussion" of the "certified question").

# B. This Court should exercise its discretion to review the certified question.

For four reasons, this Court should exercise its jurisdiction to hear this case.

First, accepting review would give this Court an opportunity to revisit Shelly, which is necessary because Shelly was wrongly decided.

Shelly derived its mandatory-new-Miranda-warning rule from Bradshaw. See Shelly, 262 So. 3d at 11. But as Shelly acknowledged "the standard [wa]s not explicitly" stated in Bradshaw. Id. That is an understatement—Bradshaw did not announce anything like the Shelly rule. Instead, in assessing a Miranda waiver, Bradshaw "unequivocally" asked only (a) whether the defendant initiated the post-Miranda discussion and (b) if so, whether the waiver of Miranda

rights was knowing and intentional. *Id.* at 22 (Lawson, J., dissenting). And in answering those questions, *Bradshaw* called for close analysis of the "particular facts and circumstances surrounding the case, including the background, experience, and conduct of the accused," the opposite of the wooden rule created in *Shelly. See Bradshaw*, 462 U.S. at 1046 (plurality op.) (quoting *Butler*, 441 U.S. at 374–75). In fact, the U.S. Supreme Court "has never articulated or implied a third inquiry or standard requiring that police 'remind' the accused of his or her *Miranda* rights, in *Bradshaw* or any other case." *Shelly*, 262 So. 3d at 22 (Lawson, J., dissenting).

In concluding otherwise, *Shelly* is at odds with the decisions of the federal courts. They have made clear that "where a defendant voluntarily re-instigates the interrogation with the police after invoking the *Miranda* right to be silent, the failure to re-administer *Miranda* rights is not fatal." *United States v. Muhammad*, 196 F. App'x 882, 887 (11th Cir. 2006); *accord United States v. Munera-Uribe*, 192 F.3d 126, 1999 WL 683823, at \*10 (5th Cir. 1999). That is because "the presence or absence of renewed *Miranda* warnings [wa]s not the key factor in" *Bradshaw. See Moore v. Dugger*, 856 F.2d 129, 134

(11th Cir. 1988). Rather, *Bradshaw*, like all the U.S. Supreme Court cases before it, considered the "totality of the circumstances" in asking whether the waiver of *Miranda* was knowing and voluntary. *Jacobs v. Singletary*, 952 F.2d 1282, 1295 (11th Cir. 1992). And thus, the federal courts examine all the circumstances surrounding a waiver, rather than mechanistically applying *Shelly*'s rule. *See*, *e.g.*, *United States v. Montana*, 958 F.2d 516, 519 (2d Cir. 1992); *United States v. Kane*, 726 F.2d 344, 349 (7th Cir. 1984).

Worse still, the rigid rule adopted in *Shelly* swept well beyond what was necessary to decide the case. Far from involving an initial invocation of the *Miranda* rights followed by the defendant's reinitiation of contact, in *Shelly* the police violated *Miranda* because they "wholly ignored Shelly's invocations of his rights and immediately proceeded to attempt to coax him into continuing with the interrogation." *Shelly*, 262 So. 3d at 16. On the merits then, *Shelly*'s rule is pure "dicta." *Id.* at 24 (Lawson, J., dissenting).

And in sweeping so broadly, *Shelly* created a waiver test that is anomalous in the law. As a general matter, the only questions courts ask when a defendant seeks to waive a constitutional right is whether

the waiver is knowing, voluntary, and intentional. See Morris v. State, 931 So. 2d 821, 833 (Fla. 2006) (right to testify); Torres-Arboledo v. State, 524 So. 2d 403, 410 (Fla. 1988) (right to counsel). That follows because the standard that governs waivers of one constitutional right should be "the same waiver requirements" applicable to "any other." State v. Contreras, 979 So. 2d 896, 909 (Fla. 2008). But Shelly departs from that general standard: It says that Miranda waivers require a special reminder.

In short, *Shelly* is wrong as a matter of precedent, practice, and logic. Accepting review would permit this Court to correct *Shelly*'s errors.

Second, correcting Shelly's errors is important because Shelly's rule does little to protect Miranda rights but imposes substantial costs on law enforcement.

As Justice Lawson explained in his dissent, the *Shelly* rule adds very little protection for defendants. Consider first a sophisticated defendant. For that person, the *Shelly* rule adds nothing because it serves as a reminder of rights that are already known. Or in Justice Lawson's words, *Shelly* demands that police re-read *Miranda* 

warnings even when the accused is "a seasoned criminal defense attorney who reinitiated contact by reminding police of her profession and stating that she was fully aware of the *Edwards* rule and was reinitiating communication with full knowledge that she was waiving her right to counsel and other Fifth Amendment rights." *Shelly*, 262 So. 3d at 22 n.8 (Lawson, J., dissenting). In that scenario, the *Shelly* rule adds nothing to ensuring that a waiver is knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. And, in the converse case—when the totality of the circumstances indicate that a reminder is needed to secure a valid *Miranda* waiver—the *Shelly* rule likewise adds nothing because a reminder is already necessary for the questioning to be lawful.

On the opposite side of the ledger, the *Shelly* rule has costs. Most prominently, it demands reversal of otherwise valid convictions, and will likely impact many cases. In the few years since *Shelly*, the district courts have already reversed two convictions on the theory that the police failed to re-*Mirandize* the defendant after interrogation was re-initiated. *See* App.29–30; *see also Quarles v. State*, 290 So. 3d 505, 508 (Fla. 4th DCA 2020). And that does not even begin to account for prosecutions that *Shelly* has deterred the State from

bringing in the first place or scotched in the trial courts.

Third, accepting review is consistent with this Court's historical practice. The certified question invites the Court to consider overruling Shelly. This Court has long recognized that when a district court believes a precedent of this Court is open to debate, it is "free to certify questions of great public interest to this Court for consideration." Hoffman v. Jones, 280 So. 2d 431, 434 (Fla. 1973). And this Court has repeatedly exercised its certified-question jurisdiction to review whether one of its precedents should be overruled. See Raoul G. Cantero III, Certifying Questions to the Florida Supreme Court: What's So Important?, 76 Fla. B.J. 40, 43 & n.53 (May 2002) (collecting cases).

Fourth, this case presents a clean vehicle for considering the vitality of Shelly. As explained, the district court reversed because it found itself "bound" by Shelly. App.25. Thus, the legal issue in this case is cleanly raised.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Lest Respondent argue that the State failed to preserve its request to overturn *Shelly*, any such request in the Fourth District would have been futile. *See Hunt v. State*, 613 So. 2d 893, 898 n.4 (Fla. 1992) ("[F]utile efforts are not required to preserve matters for appeal."). And in any event, the State preserved the substance of its argument that the Constitution does not automatically require new

#### CONCLUSION

This Court should exercise jurisdiction and review the certified question.