IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE No. SC22-458

STATE OF FLORIDA, *Petitioner*,

V.

ZACHARY JOSEPH PENNA, Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

CAREY HAUGHWOUT Public Defender 421 Third Street West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (561) 355-7600

Paul Edward Petillo Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 508438 ppetillo@pd15.state.fl.us appeals@pd15.state.fl.us

Attorney for Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Should this Court accept review, these additional issues may be raised:

- 1. Whether the State forfeited the *Edwards v. Arizona*, 451 U.S. 477 (1981), re-initiation exception when the detectives did not scrupulously honor Penna's invocation of the right to counsel and right to remain silent? *See Collazo v. Estelle*, 940 F. 2d 411, 427 (9th Cir. 1991) (Kozinski, J., concurring) ("Because *Edwards* is designed to prevent police from badgering suspects into giving up their right to counsel, the narrow exception to *Edwards* cannot apply in a case where the police actually engaged in badgering.").
- 2. Whether the *Miranda* warnings (which were given by detectives who did not scrupulously honor Penna's invocation of rights) became stale after twenty-nine days and questioning by a different officer?
- 3. Whether a seated juror concealed a relevant fact in voir dire?
- 4. Whether the State violated the discovery rules when it failed to disclose that it intended to use a 17-slide PowerPoint presentation by its blood-stain analyst?

- 5. Whether the trial court erred in allowing the State to use its mental health expert as a conduit for inadmissible hearsay?
- 6. Whether the trial court erred in allowing the State to tell the jury about the story of Enoch and Gabriel during its cross-examination of one of Penna's mental health experts?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent Penna was arrested for serious crimes. App. 6. He was mentally ill and grievously wounded (he had been shot four times). App. 6, 14-15. At the hospital in Brevard County, the lead Palm Beach County detective *Mirandized* Penna and attempted to question him, but Penna invoked his right to counsel. App. 6.

Once a suspect invokes the right to counsel or the right to remain silent, interrogation must cease. *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 473-74 (1966). Police must "scrupulously honor" these rights. *Michigan v. Mosley*, 423 U.S. 96, 104 (1975).

The detectives did not scrupulously honor these rights. The lead detective left the room, but "[d]espite the defendant having requested a lawyer, a second detective entered the defendant's room and attempted to question him. The defendant again requested a lawyer. The detectives then ceased their attempts to question the defendant." App. 6.

Almost a month later, a jail deputy assigned to guard Penna at the hospital decided he would give it a try. App. 6. He "called the local police to ask whether the defendant had been read his *Miranda* warnings and whether they wanted him to obtain statements from the defendant." App. 6. The local police referred the deputy to the Palm Beach County detectives. App. 6-7.

The deputy spoke to one of the detectives and was told that Penna "had refused to speak to them and that he had requested counsel." App. 7.

"Despite that notification, when the defendant initiated a conversation with the deputy later that day, and on other days in the weeks which followed, the deputy did not specifically give the defendant his *Miranda* rights again, even though the deputy directed questions to the defendant during those conversations." App. 7.

The Fourth District held that some of the statements Penna made to the deputy should have been suppressed because the deputy did not *Mirandize* Penna or specifically remind Penna of the *Miranda* rights. App. 24. "Moreover," the court noted, "after the defendant was read his *Miranda* rights, twenty-nine days passed, during which the defendant was being treated for his gunshot wounds...." App. 24.

In sum, Penna was *Mirandized* and he invoked his right to counsel and he refused to speak to the detectives. The police did

not scrupulously honor Penna's invocation of rights. Approximately a month later, during which Penna was being treated for his gunshot wounds, a deputy successfully questioned Penna without *Mirandizing* him or reminding him of his previously invoked rights. The Fourth District held that some of the statements Penna made to the deputy should have been suppressed.

The Fourth District certified the question proposed by the State as one of great public importance (App. 33):

WHETHER A DEFENDANT'S FIFTH AMENDMENT MIRANDA RIGHTS ARE AUTOMATICALLY VIOLATED WHEN AN OFFICER FAILS TO RE-READ A MIRANDA WARNING FOLLOWING A DEFENDANT'S VOLUNTARY RE-INITIATION OF CONTACT.

ARGUMENT

THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW BECAUSE THE DISTRICT NOT PASS FOURTH DID UPON THE QUESTION QUESTION IT CERTIFIED; THEIΤ CERTIFIED IS NOT ONE OF GREAT IMPORTANCE; AND THE STATE DID NOT PRESERVE FOR REVIEW THE ISSUE PRESENTED

Under Article V, Section 3(b)(4) of the Florida Constitution, this Court "[m]ay review any decision of a district court of appeal that passes upon a question certified by it to be of great public importance." The threshold issue of whether the district court's decision passed upon the certified question is jurisdictional. See Pirelli Armstrong Tire Corp. v. Jensen, 777 So. 2d 973, 974 (Fla. 2001); Gee v. Seidman & Seidman, 653 So. 2d 384, 385 (Fla. 1995).

"In order to have discretionary jurisdiction based on a certified question, there are essentially three prerequisites that must be met. First, it is essential that the district court of appeal pass upon the question certified by it to be of great public importance." Floridians For A Level Playing Field v. Floridians Against Expanded Gambling, 967 So. 2d 832, 833 (Fla. 2007). "Second, there must be a district court 'decision' to review." Id. Third, the question must be "certified'

by a majority decision of the district court." *Id.*; see also Carpenter v. State, 228 So. 3d 535, 540 (Fla. 2017).

The first requirement was analyzed in *Salgat v. State*, 652 So. 2d 815 (Fla. 1995). There, the First District found this Court's decision in *Johnson v. State*, 465 So. 2d 499 (Fla. 1985), to be dispositive for deciding a jury instruction argument, but the court noted an "important question about whether Johnson may be reconciled" with this Court's more "recent decision of *Fenelon v. State*, 594 So. 2d 292 (Fla. 1992)." *Salgat v. State*, 630 So. 2d 1143, 1145 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993). Therefore, the First District certified a question of great public importance regarding whether jury instructions previously held proper under *Johnson* constituted an improper comment upon the evidence in light of *Fenelon. Id.*

This Court initially accepted review but later "determin[ed] that [it wa]s without jurisdiction." *Salgat*, 652 So. 2d 815. That was because this Court "has no jurisdiction to answer a question certified by a district court when that court has not first passed upon the question certified." *Id*.

In the case at bar, the Fourth District did not hold that a defendant's *Miranda* rights are "automatically" violated when an

officer fails to re-Mirandize the defendant following the defendant's re-initiation of contact. To be sure, the court applied Shelly v. State, 262 So. 3d 1 (Fla. 2018), and ruled that the deputy should have re-Mirandized Penna. But this was after noting in its recitation of the facts that the detectives had tried to question Penna after he invoked his right to counsel, that the deputy who successfully questioned Penna knew that Penna had invoked his rights, and that Penna was questioned nearly a month after he was Mirandized. See State v. Roberts, 32 Ohio St. 3d 225, 232, 513 N.E.2d 720, 726 (1987) (passage of time may make initial Miranda warnings stale and require that they be read again); Commonwealth. v. Scott, 561 Pa. 617, 624-25, 752 A.2d 871, 875-76 (2000) (same); State v. Kan. 697, 707, 207 P.3d 208, 288 Ransom, (interrogation must be conducted within reasonable time after Miranda warnings); United States v. McClain, 2006 WL 2403926, at *11 (D.N.J. Aug. 18, 2006) (two-week gap made Miranda warnings stale); Commonwealth v. Wideman, 460 Pa. 699, 708-09, 334 A.2d 594, 599 (1975) (twelve-hour gap, change in location, and change in officers made Miranda warnings stale); Commonwealth v. Riggins, 451 Pa. 519, 527-28, 304 A.2d 473, 478 (1973) (seventeen-hour

gap, change in location, change in officers made *Miranda* warnings stale).

Nor is the question the Fourth District certified one of great public importance. This case presents a "narrow issue with very unique facts." Dade Cty. Prop. Appraiser v. Lisboa, 737 So. 2d 1078 (Mem.) (Fla. 1999). To begin with, not all suspects are Mirandized and questioned by police. Of those who are questioned, the available evidence shows that few invoke their Miranda rights. 1 Of those suspects who invoke their rights, only a small fraction go on to reinitiate contact with police. And of those few suspects who invoke their rights and then reinitiate contact with police, fewer still will be questioned by an officer who fails to re-Mirandize the suspect. And on top of all of that, the statement might not be inculpatory, such that the defense would not move to suppress it (nor the State seek to admit it).

¹ Paul G. Cassell & Bret S. Hayman, *Police Interrogation in the* 1990s: An Empirical Study of the Effects of Miranda, 43 UCLA L. Rev. 839, 859 (1996) (out of 129 Mirandized suspects, 21 invoked their rights); Richard A. Leo, *The Impact of Miranda Revisited*, 86 J. Crim. L. & Criminology 621, 653 (1996) (out of 182 Mirandized suspects, 46 invoked those rights).

The stars were in alignment in this case because Penna, mentally ill and grievously wounded, invoked his rights and then, nearly a month later, spoke to an over eager jail deputy who was assigned to guard him at the hospital. This rare case does not present a question of great public importance.

Also, the State did not preserve this issue for review. Although the State now argues that *Shelly* was wrongly decided,² it did not make that argument in the district court until after the case was decided. *See State v. Fleming*, 61 So. 3d 399, 401 n.3 (Fla. 2011) (the State did not preserve an argument because it failed to make it in the district court). If counsel seeks reversal of existing law, it must preserve that issue like any other. *See Espinosa v. State*, 626 So. 2d 165, 167 (Fla. 1993) (holding that issue was waived notwithstanding there was adverse authority that foreclosed it); *Beltran-Lopez v. State*, 626 So. 2d 163, 164 (Fla. 1993) (same); *see*, *e.g.*, *Hollingsworth v. State*, 293 So. 3d 1049, 1051 (Fla. 4th DCA 2020), *rev. denied*, 2020 WL 5902598 (Fla. Oct. 5, 2020).

² The State argued in the district court that the Fourth District misinterpreted *Shelly* in *Quarles v. State*, 290 So. 3d 505 (Fla. 4th DCA 2020), *rev. denied*, 2020 WL 2498529 (Fla. May 14, 2020). *Answer Brief at pages 26-28*.

"Contemporaneous objection and procedural default rules apply not only to defendants, but also to the State." *Cannady v. State*, 620 So. 2d 165, 170 (Fla. 1993); § 921.051(8), Fla. Stat. (procedural bars should be strictly enforced); *State v. Vesquez*, 755 So. 2d 674, 677 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) (section 924.051, Florida Statutes, is applicable to both the State and the defense). The State's cited case, *Hunt v. State*, 613 So. 2d 893, 898 n.4 (Fla. 1992), does not stand for the proposition that a party need not preserve for review a challenge to binding precedent.

Finally, this Court decided *Shelly* less than four years ago, and it denied review of *Quarles v. State*, 290 So. 3d 505 (Fla. 4th DCA 2020), *rev. denied*, 2020 WL 2498529 (Fla. May 14, 2020), less than two years ago. And it can't be the case that this Court's prior decisions, even those that were rendered by a closely divided Court, are all up for grabs. As the authors of this treatise explain:

The authority of precedent derives not from the wisdom or authority of particular judges who render a decision but from the fact that it is a judgment of the court whose jurisdiction hasn't changed. Hence a change in the composition of court personnel is a "type of 'circumstance' that does not rise to the level necessary to overturn the doctrine of stare decisis." This rule is so because "we may be confident in the assumption that a precedent may not properly be overruled simply because

a majority of the Court believe it to be error," as the Texas Court of Criminal Appeals said in a 1993 case. "If the rule were otherwise," the court wrote, then no precedent would be safe and our law could change after every change in Court personnel." The court cited Cardozo J. for this proposition: "The situation would . . . be intolerable if the [periodic] changes in the composition of the court were accompanied by changes in its rulings. In such circumstances there is nothing to do except to stand by the errors of our brethren of the [time] before, whether we relish them or not."

So a court on which certain judges have come to determine that a prior case was wrongly decided, or a court that has had a change of personnel and can now muster the necessary votes to overrule a prior case, cannot properly overrule the prior case without considering both the doctrine of stare decisis and the factors that it requires: "The concepts of stare decisis and judicial restraint are too vital to our system of jurisprudence to accommodate simple changes of heart or court personnel."

Bryan A. Garner et al., *The Law of Judicial Precedent* 416 (2016) (citations omitted).

This Court should deny review.

CONCLUSION

This Court should deny review.